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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
EVANSVILLE DIVISION

JULIE GREENBANK, )
Plaintiff, ;
V. g No. 3:18cv-00239SEB-MPB
GREAT AMERICAN ASSURANCE g
COMPANY, )
Defendant. ;
ORDER

OnNovember 262018 Plaintiff Julie Greenbank brought suit agaiGseat
American Assurance Company (“Great American”) [DkB]10n December 20, 2018
following the removal othe caseo federal courtpursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 133¢s.
Greenbank filed her first Amended Complaatiegingeight causes of action: breach of
contract (Count I); bad faith (Count I1); theft (Count IIl); statutory conversion (Count
IV); criminal mischief (Count V); statutory, common law, and constructive fraud (Count
V1); and common law conversion (Count VII), and negligence (ViDkt. 10]. Now
before the Court is Great American’s Motion for Summary Judgment, filed on July 19,
2019, [Dkt. 51] and Ms. Greenbank’s Croeséotion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
on December 10, 2019. [Dkt. 79]. Both motions were brought pursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 56.

Also before the Court are Ms. Greenbank’s Motion for Reconsideriiilah 64],

as well as her Objection to the Magistrate Judge’s January@,Q@ler [Dkt. 86].
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For the reasons detailed below, geny Ms. Greenbank CrossMotion for
Partial Summary Judgmewegrant in part and deny in part Great American’s
Motion for Summary Judgmentls. Greenbank’s Motion for Reconsideratiom&nied.
Her objection tdhe Magistrate Judge’s January 2, 2020 Ordeveésruled.

Background
l. General Objections to Evidentiary Submissions

Local Rule 561 requires that “a party must support each fact the party asserts in a
brief with a citation ta discovery response, a deposition, an affidavit, or other
admissible evidence.” Great American argues that Ms. Greenbank hizsqutof
numerous facts without etionsto proper evidentiary support. We resolve these specific
evidentiary disputes as they relate to material facts as needed throughout this Order.

Additionally, both parties, subsequent to the completion of briefing, sudamitt
additional exhibits in support of their respective motions. On February 28, 2020, Great
American filed a “Notice of Corrected Exhibits,” in which it submitted 40 pages of
deposition testimony that had been cited in its brief but omitted as exhibéaddIitonal
submissions primarily reflect instances in which it either cted thersubmitted the
wrong portion of deposition testimomy instances where it omitted submitting portions
of deposition transcripts that were cited to properly.

On February 14, 2020, Ms. Greenbank submitted her “Supplemental Documents,”
submitting evidence that skemilarly claims was cited in her briefing but inadvertently
omitted. Her additional submissions, like Great Americaar's reflective of evidence

that she cited to but failed to submit as evidentiary support. She also corrects improper
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citations in her briefing, directing the Court to the previously submitted exhibit that
supports her statement. In total, Ms. Greenbank submittedib0grage®f exhibits that
werenot included in her briefing.
Great American argues that it has bbaaghly prejudiced by thigeluge of

untimely submissions. Great Americanraintainsthat the parties did not commit
commensurate errons submitting their belated exhibits: Great American merely “sought
to correct [] omission[s]” whereas Ms. Greenbank sought to “supplement” evidence. We
disagree with Great Americandgscriptionthat the parties’ errors are qualitatively
different—quantiatively different, true-but both have flooded the court’s docket with
new and belated evidentiary submissions creating at best unfairnesses for opposing
counsel and a confused record for @aart to review Rather tharexcluding entirely
from consideration all d¥s. Greenbank’s new submissienw/hich would seem unjust
in light of the parties’ shared faultswve shall address and resolve the specific factual and
evidentiary disputes as they ariseur analysis. To the extent Great American has been
prejudiced by any particular untimely submissionMs. Greenbank, it shall be noted.

. Facts

A. Ms. Greenbank’s Purchase of Thomas and Execution of the Equine Mortality
Policy

In September 2017, Ms. Greenbank purchased an American Saddlebred gelding
horse namedwesome at This (barn name “Thomas”) for $500,000. [Dki2 54t 3;
Dkt. 80,at9]. At the time of purchase, Thomas was a championed, competitive show

horse weighing 959 pounds. [Dkt. 80, at@. Ms. Greenbank arranged for Thomas to



beboarded adtrained at Cedarwood Farms in Evansville, Indiana, whichvised and
operated by Chuck Herbert. Mr. Herbert began training Thomas in Decembef2kt17
80, at 9].

Ms. Greenbank and Great Ameriaaxecuted a mortality insurance policy (the
“Policy”) with a major medical endorsement, effective September 28, tPddigh
September 28, 2018, providing financial protections for Thomas. [DK, &i.3; Dkt.

80, at 10]. The Policy’s mortality coverage was for Thomas'’s full purchase price of
$500,000]ld. at § 17]. The initial ongear term was set &xpire on September 29,

2018, but Ms. Greenbank also purchasé@ @aranteed Renewal Endorsement,” which
provideda renewal of the Policy ye#n-yearthereafter [Am. Compl.at §{ 1920]. The
“death or authorized humane destruction” of Thomas qualified as a covered loss under
the Policy so long as Ms. Greenbank complied with various conditions precedent.

First, Section VI(F) of the Policy, in relevantrparovides:

It is a condition precedent of any liability by us under this policy that, in the
event of any accident, injury, illness, lameness condition or lameness injury,
disease, or physical disability of any kind of or to [Thomas], you do eath a
every one of the following or have it done by another:
1. [omitted]
2. Give immediate notice to us of the accident, injury, illness, lameness
condition, or lameness injury, disease, or physical disability of any kind.
Such notice should be given by telephone to us a24tHOUR
EQUINE OPERATIONS CALL NUMBER: 1 -800-331-0211and
must include (a) a description of the accident, injury, illness, lameness
condition or lameness injury, disease, or physical disability and (b) the
name and contact information of the qualified veterinarian carinigpéor
“horse”
3. [omitted]
4. Allow us to examine, and if we so require, to assume control over the
treatment of the "horse" by a "qualified veterinarian" of our choice, at
our expense, and allow tHeorse”to be removed for such treatmght
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5. [omitted]
The Policy furtheprovided:
PLEASE NOTE

IMMEDIATE NOTICE OF ANY OCCURRENCE WHICH COULD RESULT IN
A CLAIM INVOLVING ANY ANIMAL INSURED UNDER THIS POLICY
MUST BE GIVEN BY YOU, YOUR REPRESENTATIVE, ORTHER
PERSON3NVHO HAVE CARE, CUSTODY AND CONTROL OF SUCH
ANIMAL. NOTICE IS TO BE GIVEN TO GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE
EQUINE OPERATIONS CALL 24 HOURS3-800-3310211. PLEASE ADVISE
POLICY NUMBER, NAME OF INSURED, AND ANIMAL INVOLVED,
ALSO INCLUDE A TELEPHONE NUMBER TO CONTACT WHERE THE
ANIMAL IS LOCATED. GENERAL CONDITION 6 OF THE POLICY
STIPULATES THE REQUIREMENTS FOR TREATMENT GHCKNESS OR
INJURY TO AN INSURED ANIMAL. THESE STIPULATIONS MUST BE
ADHERED TOIMMEDIATELY WHEN THE CONDITION OR INJURY IS
OBSERVED OR KNOWNIT IS ESSENTIAL TO CONFORM TO ALL THE
ABOVE REQUIREMENTS SINCE FAILURE TO DO SO WILINVALIDATE
ANY CLAIM UNDER THIS POLICY.

Section IV(G) outlines the duties of Ms. Greenbank in the event of a covered
cause ofoss:

It is a condition precedent to any liability by us under this policy that, in the event
of any loss of the “horsdjecause of the occurrence of a Covered Cause of Loss,
you do each and every one of the following or have it done by another:

.. ]

5. Assist and cooperate with us and our representatives in the adjustment and
investigation of any claim or potential claim by:
a. providing us and our representatives with access to any person(s),
information, records and documents we may requivg; a
b. submitting and, so far as is within your power causing other persons to
submit, to examinations under oath if required by us.

Finally, Section VII(F) provides:

[N]o suit, action or proceeding for the recovery of any sum under this poligy ma
be brought against us unless you have first fully complied with all terms,
conditions and provisions of this policy.
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B. Thomas’s Declining Healthnd Great American’s Intervention

Concerns about Thomas'’s heditist arosein February 2018whenMr. Herbert,
Thomas'’s trainer andveterinary technologist with more thdf years of experience
sought an assessment from Dr. Raymond Stolegnsed veterinarian with an equine
practice [Am. Complat 11 2134]. On February 12, 2018, Dr. Stone treated Thomas for
colic before diagnosing him with bilateral pleural pneumonia on February 15, 2018. [Dkt.
51-2, at 6; Dkt. 80, at 10]. Dr. Stemletermined that Thomas’s pneumonia was bacterial
and thusegan treating him with “heavy antibiotics.” [Dkt.-21at 7]. While Dr. Stone
communicated primarily with Mr. Herbert, Ms. Greenbank was awaréahas’s
pneumonia at the timef his diagnosis on February 15, 2018. [DktAZ%t 7].

Thomas’s pneumonia continued into Mag®1l8 On March 6, 2018, Mr. Herbert
reported to Ms. Greenbariat Thomas had a “lot @bngestion . .in his trachea.” [Dkt.
1-2, at 7]. In lateMarch 2018, Dr. Stone determined that Thomas’s pneumonia was
“systemic” and that Thomas was “very sick.” [Dkt.-8lat 7; Dkt. 80, at 10Ms.
Greenbanlconcedeshat, by late March, Thomas was “pretty darn sick” and in “critical
condition.”[Dkt. 51-2, & 8].

Dr. Stone suspected that Thomas was suffering btbrarailments at this timas
well. He testified that both he and Mr. Herbert, due to the exudate and odor of Thomas’s
cough,were concerned that Thomas hddreg abscess. NonetheleBs, Stonebelieved
that “it eventually resolved because the drainage stopfiekk. 80, at 11].Dr. Stone
furthernoted that by the end of March 2018, Thorhad lost 200 to 250 poundsdhad

developectellulitis in all four legsThomas had also developed uveitis in his eye.
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March 26, 2018, Ms. Greenbank inquitgfdVir. Herbertwhethershe should “file”
Thomas’s medical bills witthe insurance companio which he responded the
affirmative [Dkt. 51-2, at 9]. Dr. Ston@lsoinformed Ms. Greenbank that he
recommended referring Thomas to a hogpitat, following a consultation with Dr.
Stone and Dr. Clair Latimer, who was an ophthalmologist at Rood & Riddle Equine
Hospital, it was decided thahomas sbuld continue to be ¢lated aCedarwoodDkt.

80, at 11}

In April 2018, Dr. Stone noted that Thomas was responding positividigse
treatmentsOn April 10, 2018, Dr. Stone examined Thomas and reported that his lungs
and right eye weraow clear, but his lefeyeremained a little cloudy. On April 13, 2018,
Dr. Stone decided that Thomagiseumonianedication could be decreasszhsidering
his improving conditiort.Dr. Stone continued to decreaBgomas’smedication before

deciding to ween him off completelyon April 21, 2018.Mr. Herbert agreed that

Lt is contested wherecisely participated ithis decisioamaking process. Ms. Greenbank
asserts that Dr. Stone, Dr. Latimer, ah@ultimately agreed to continue treatment of Thomas at
Cedarwood. [Dkt. 80, at 11]. Great American rejects the implication thaeteah was made

by the veterinarians, arguing that only Ms. Greenbank or Mr. Herbert wouldhadtiee

authority to make this decision. [Dkt. 95, at 12]. Nonetheless, Dr. Stone, though he had no
decisionmaking authority, did not dissefiom the decision. [Dkt. 112, Stone. Dep., 2442].
Moreover, Dr. Stone’s notes reflect that the decision arose frammpusagreementraong
himself, Dr. Latimer, Mr. Herbert, and Ms. Greenbank. [Dkt389at 3]. Ultimatelyto the

extend there wasdisputejt is immaterial to our holdings. Likewise, we need not resolve at this
time the partiegdispute ovemwhether Dr. Stoneontintedto consult with Dr. Latimer on

Thomas'’s eye health.

2 Great Americarchallengeshese averments as improper expert testimony from Dr. Stone, who
has not beedisclosed as an expert. Ms. Greenbank responds that this informdtengs

offered not as eert testimony, but to establish what notice she had regarding Thomas'’s health.
[Dkt. 122, at 2]. We agree with Ms. Greenbank that these statements may be offéned f
purpose.



Thomas’sappetite finallywas increasingand his health was improving. [Dkt. 80, at 11].
Ms. Greenbank asserts that by April 29, 2018, Dr. Stone had reported that Thomas
“overall appear[ed] bettérGreat American counters that Dr. Stosa®tes from lis

time b not, in factreflect that Thomas was “overall” doing welipecifically, Dr. Stne
hadnoted that Thomas had pulled his right stifle, remdghim lame in his right hind.
[Dkt. 95, at 13].

Not until April 26, 2018 did Ms. Greenbank report to Great American that Thomas
was battlingpneumonia. [Dkt. 5P, at 9; Dkt. 80, at 11]. Charlotte Bloxsom, a senior
claimsadjuster at Great American, was assigned to Ms. Greenbank’s diins.
Bloxsom immediatelypeneda claim filefor Thomasand begaihe investigatory
processnto Thomas’s pneumoniadf].

On May 3, 2018, Ms. Greenbank informed Ms. Bloxsom that Thomas had
recoveredrom his pneumoniand was back itraining3 [Dkt. 51-2, at 9 Dkt. 80, at 11
12]. However, Ms. Greenbank lateonfirmedin her depositiothat Thomas “had been

sick continuously from February until JuhéDkt. 51-2, at 10]. Additionally, at no time

3 The parties also dispute whether Ms. Greenbank misrepresented the facothas Tvas “in
training.” Ms. Greenbank asserts that she visited Cedarwood iAp&te2018 and observed
Thomas lunging on lead line, which Mr. Herbert had confirmed would be a part of hisgraini
Cedarwood. [Dkt. 80, at 12]. Despiibomas’s ailment, Mr. Herbert nevieadreported to Ms.
Greenbank that he would cease training Thomas. [Dkt. 80, at 12]. Thus, she laegues
statements regarding Thomas'’s trainingr@accurate. However, Mr. Herbert testified that
Thomas was not in training from April to June 2018. In April, Thomas was lunged on omly thre
occasions before his cough preventesfinither training. [Dkt. 95, at 11]. Additionally, while

Ms. Greenbank’s brief states that she believed Mr. Herbert was exercisin@d hbthigime as

a part of a training regime, her affidavit dowd include this information. [Dkt. 117, at 6ee
generallyDkt. 79-11]. This dispute need not be resolved at this time as it has no bearing on our
ruling.



in her conversations with Ms. Bloxsom did Ms. Greenbank infornoh&€homas’s eye
iIssues, leg issues, or weight lost. [Dkt-Alat 10].

On May 7, 2018, Thomas’s condition appeaeie indecline His limp had
worsenedand his cough had returned. Mr. Herbert informed Dr. Stone that he “didn’t
think Thomas was going to make it” [Dkt. 2] at 11]. Ms. Greenbank testified that
Thomas’dimp was so severe that she was afraid to have him walk on it. [Dkt. 95, at 14].
However, she did not discuss any of these new developmvéhtds. Bloxsomor any
other representative of Great AmericfDkt. 51-2, at 11].

By May 10, 2018, Thomas’s health again seemecktioriproving says Ms.
GreenbankMr. Herbert reported that Thomas was “bright and eating great.” Dr. Stone’s
examination on May 10, 2018, confirmed that Thomas was walking “ok,” had a good
appetite, and his trachea was clear. According to Dr. Stass&ssment, “Everything
appears good, concern is weight loss, but horse finally eating extremely well to rebuild
muscle[.]” Following this examination, neither Ms. Greenbank nor Mr. Herbert sought
further veterinary assistance from Dr. Stone until June 5, 2018.

Thereafter Thomas’s healtlpparentlyemained generallgtead until it
drastically worseed On May 14, 2018, an employee at Cedarwood informed Ms.
Greenbank that Thomas was “having a good day,” @hidhte’s notwalking, he’s
grazing!!” [Dkt. 80, at 13]. At the end of May 201&;cording to Ms. Greenbank

Thomas did not have any trouble walking or standing, and Mr. Herbert thought it



“look[ed] like he might be gaining weight.” On June 1, 2018, an employesdtiid.
Greenbank that “Thomas walked great this morninigl.].f

Sally, these victories proved to Bbortlived for Thomas. On June 5, 2018, Mr.
Herbert,having grown concerned over Thomas’s weight loss, contacted Dr. Stone for a
consultation. Dr. Stone examined Thomas on June 5 and 7, 2018, and concluded that
Thomas'’s pneumonia/lung infection had recurred. [Dkt. 80, at ABjund thissame
time, Thomas'sbility to get up and down was compromisdd.][ On June 8, 2018, Dr.
Stone contacted Ms. Blegm and informed her thathomas'’s condition had deteriorated
and that he “probably” needed to be euthanized. [Dkg,5it 10; Dkt. 80, at 13; Dk®5,
at 19. Following receipt of this information, Great Americatained its own
veterinarian, Dr. Nathan Slovis, to provide consultation and treatment for Sh{idka
51-2, at 10; Dkt. 80, at 13].

Dr. Slovis initially recommended that Thomas be transported to a local clinic for
treatment as soon as practicable before concluding that it was in Thomas’s best interest to
be shipped to his facility in Lexington, Kentucky. [Dkt-8lat 11]. On or aboulune 8,
2018, Mr. Herbert transported Thomas to Hagyard Equine Medical Institute (“Hagyard”)

so that he could be treated by Dr. Slal his team. It was at this time that Great

4 Great American disagrees that a reabperson would believe Thomas'’s health was
“improving” or that Thomas wawalking without a handicap at this point in time, given that any
improvement was sandwichéat brief intervalsbetween severe health concerns. [Dkt. 95, at
14]. Great American atsdisputes the admissibility of the evidence proffered by Ms. Greenbank
in support of her avermentsut doesot provide a specifibasis for its objectiorThis dispute,

like many others, does not require a resoluta@rpurposes of our ruling here

® The parties’ dispute whether the pneumonia recurregaschronic.
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American assumed control over the treatment of Thomas pursuant to the Policy provision
authorizingthat action. [Dkt. 532, at 11; Dkt. 80, at 14].

Dr. KathyMacGillivray was the doctor on call at Hagyard when Thomas arrived
and wouldeventuallypecome Thomas’s primary veterinarian while at Hagyahe
evaluated Thomas and determined that he was suffeangd deep lung abscess that
had not been visibleia Dr. Stone’s medical equipment, necessitating a large amount of
pus to be drained from Thomas’s lungs. Thomas was also diagnosddmairiitis—an
inflammation of tissuénside a horse’s hooThomas was found to @maciateds wel|
warrantinga body score of,lthe lowest possible score assignable to him. [Dki2 54t
11]. Thomas’s health condition upon arrival at Hagyard alarmed Dr. Slogi®r.
MacGillivray, who believed Thomas should have been referred to specialists months
earlier. Dr. Slovis was concerned about the lack of treatment Thomas had redeiieed
he wasn Ms. Greenbank’s care, finding itadequatespecially with regard tbis
“abscess or hoafr feet issues.” [Dkt. 52, at 11]°

The parties dispute whether awdithat extent Dr. MacGillivray recommended
euthanizationdllowing her initialassessment of Thomas. Ms. Greenbank assertSrthat
MacGillivray informed Great American that Thomasisrvival rate was lownaking

euthanization not unreasonaljiekt. 80, at 14]However, Dr. MacGilNray testified that

® Counsel for Ms. Greenbank asserts that this constitutes an expert opinion and thag Deca
Slovis was never designated as an expedefendants, it should be disregarded. However
much likethe challenge tdr. Stonés testimonywe view this statements as relevanato
determiration ofwhat informationvas possessed IG3reat American at the time it took control
of Thomas’s health. Thestatementare not received in the recoasl expert’s opiniorevidence.
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she refrained from recommending eutization because Thombaad not yet received
appropriate health care. [Dkt. 95, at 16]. Spedificahe viewedhe true nature of
Thomas’s healtlasunclearbased on what seemediiea lack of propemedical
treatment. She thyweferred taattempt tostabilize Thomas before issuing a decision on
euthanization. [Dkt. 5B, ClaimNotes 158, 161]Nonethelesayis. Greenbank claims
that Great Americalrequested Hagyard to undertake any treatment necessary to keep
Thomas alive and [Great American] did wonsider whether it was reasonable to
euthanize Thomas, his insured use as a show hbisduture athleticism or Julie’s
insured investment.”[Dkt. 80, at 4¥b]. This averment, and the underlying factual
dispute require some unpacking, which we will undertake shortly.

On June 11, 2018, Dr. Bryan Fraley, another veterinati&ifagyard
recommended performirgtenectomyn Thomas, which involved cutting the tendon
his hind leg. Ms. Greenbank believed the procedure would render his future athletic
career “unlikely’ though it wouldpreserve his life as a pasture horse. [Dkt. 80, at 15].
Ms. Greenbank objected to the procedure, preferring that more conservative treatment
optionsbe explored to preserve his future athleticism as a show horse. [Dkt. 80, at 15].
Notwithstanding her objectionfjoughGreat Americarchose not to pursuaore
conservative treatment optignt denies having refusdéd considethem Dr. Fraley
testifiedthat there were no more conservaigions that would have been viable in

savingThomas’s life[Dkt 95-25, at 90].

"As will be discussetlrther, it is disputed whether Great American was required to consider
Thomas’s purported “use” when deciding what treatment plan to employ.
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After notifying Ms. Greenbank that her refusalcooperate with the chosen
course of actiolouldjeopardize heability to receivefurthercoverage under the Policy
Great Americardirected thathe tenectomy be performed on June 11, 2018. [Dkt. 80, at
15; Dkt. 95, at 18 The next day, on June 12)18,Great Americannstructed Hagyard
not to release Thomas to Ms. Greenbank absent Dr. MacGillivappsovaland Great
American’s permission. [Dkt. 80, at 18Jls. Greenbanlasserts that this directivet to
release Thomasontinues to date, thougas Ms. Bloxsom testified, the issue has not
been revisited with Hagyard since June 21 8.[Dkt. 798, at 206].

Great Americarargueshat Thomasesponded positively to this surgi¢edatment
and that s condition improvedsignificantly oncene wasn its care. [Dkt. 542, at 13].
Even Ms. Greenbank recognized that Thomas looked healthy, his weight had improved,
and he was “moving pretty wéll[Dkt. 51-2, at 13].However, Ms. Greenbanknaintains
that Thomadas contined to suffer various ailments.

Since his transport to Hagyard, Great American has palnsatiedical bills and
expenses incurred for his treatment. [DktAht 13; Dkt. 80, at 17].

C. Great American’®Requesfor Examinations Under Oath and Reds

While Hagyardwas treatingrhomas, Great American continued its investigation
of Ms. Greenbank’s claims. On September 5, 2018, Great American issued a letter to Ms.
Greenbank requesting that she and her agents appear for examinations under oath
(“EUOS”), which it esserts waa condition precedent to establishing Great American’s
liability under the Policy pursuant to Sectidl(G)(5). [Dkt. 522, at 13; Dkt. 80 at 16

17]. Great American specifically requested that Ms. Greenbank, her husband, Dr. Stone,
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Mr. Herbert, Mr. Herbert’'s assistant, and Mr. Herbert's son appear for EUOs. [Bkt. 51
at 13]. Ms. Greenbank was also askegrimduceThomas’s veterinary records, training
records, and any communications between herself and Mr. Herbert related to Thomas’s
health. [Dkt. 512, at 13; Dkt. 80 at 17].

Ms. Greenbank’s EUO was scheduled for December 6, 2018. [DRt,. &114].
However, on November 26, 2018, she cancelledrterview. Instead, hat same day, she
filed suit against Great American, which Great American claimsinmesntravention of
the Policy’s requirement that she submit to an EUO prior to filing suit. [Dk2. &t114,

Dkt. 80 at 17]. Neither Dr. Stone nor Mr. Herbert and his employees had appeared for
their EUOsat the time this lawsuit was filed. [Dkt. 21 at 14]. Ms. Greenbarddlegedly
also hadot furnished albf the requested documents as required before initiating this
litigation. [Dkt. 512, at 14].She did, however, provide a copy of the complaint to Great
American the day it was fite stating that she would schedule “depositions in the
litigation in the near futw.” Great American did not respond to this request. [Dki2 51

at 17 Dkt. 80, at 2%

Ms. Greenbank generally does not dispute Great American’s factual averments on
these issuesshe does disagree, howevetth Great American’s interpretation of the
policy requirements, whictve will take up duringur legal analysis.

D. Termination of the Policy

The Policy expired by its term on September 28, 2018. [Dkt. 80, at 17]. While the
Policy included a Guaranteed Renewal Endorsement, Great American refasedrto

this endorsement. Despite the termination of the Pdisyvell asa shortterm renewal
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executed in lieu of the guaranteed gmar renewalGreat American has eghed
custodyand control of Thomas. [Dkt. 80, at 17].

Great American moves for summary judgment on the majority of the claims
against it Count | of Ms. Greenbank’s Complaint asserts four distinct besaxth
contract claims for (1) a covered loss, (2) denial of medical expenses, (3) an alternative
claim for approving a medical procedure terminating Thomas’s insured use, and (4) an
alternative claim for denial ahe Guaranteed Policy RenewdBoth parties seek
summary judgment in their favor on Clainutber (1)

Great American also requesgummary judgmem its favor on the remaining
claims against it: bad faith (Count Il); theft (Count IIl); statutory conversion (Count 1V);
criminal mischief (Count V); statutory, common law, and constructive fraud (Count VI);
common law conversion (Count VII), and negligence (Count VIII). Ms. Greenbank
argues that genuine issues of material fact preclude granting summary judgment on these

counts.The parties agree that Indiana law governs alingai

8 As Ms. Greenbank observes, Great American also appears¢ekiag summary judgment on
(4), but its argument in support of summary judgment with respect to the allegek fanrea
failing to renew the Policy is relegateda®ingleconclusory sentence in an introductory
paragraph in which Great American doesewen addresthe languageof the Guaranteed
Renewal Endorsement nor does it provide any analy$isw its request for summary judgment
comports tole terms thereinShe argues that such an underdeveloped argument does not
suffice to prevail on summagydgment. Indeed, the Court was uncertain whether Great
American was even seeking summary judgment on this issue as its boieiisgny clear
statement to that effect. Great American offesesponse to Ms. Greenbank’s arguments.
While it briefly revsits a discussion of the Guaranteed Renewal Endorsement within its bad faith
discussion, it nevasrovidesany clarity as tavhetherit is seeking summary judgment on this
issue and, if so, what specific language in the Palreyits arguments being adwead We
suspect Great American’s analysis on this issue is largely reflective of @sabanalysis oéll

of Ms. Greenbank’s various alleged breaches; however, we will not grant summarynadgme
such an undeveloped issue.
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Collateral Motions & Issues

Before turningo the parties’ crosmotions for summary judgment, veeldress

two pendingcollateral motions.
I. Ms. Greenbank’s Motion for Reconsideration

On February 22, 2019, Great American filed a Motion to Preserve Evidence,
requesting an order thgpreserved the life of Thomas during the pendency of this
litigation” by permittingGreat American to continue to maintain possession and control
of Thomas. We agreed with Ms. Greenbank that a denial of the motion was required
based orGreat American’s “requesgfo[ing] beyond the mere preservation of evidence by
seeking to maintain possession of Thomas when it has established no lawful right to do
so.” We al® noted that at that time there was no evidence at risk of destruction, and thus
Great American had ngirovideda proper legal need for a preservation order. [Dkt. 63].

Having ruled in Ms. Greenbank’s favon that motion, the Court wasore than a
little surprisedwhen it was she who filed a Motion for Reconsideratibnthat motion,
Ms. Greenbankssertghat the Court’s ruling “made a decision outside the adversarial
issuegpresented to the Court by the parties.” Specifically, Mee@banlchallenges as
improperthe Courts legal determination regarding Great American’s alleged
unauthorized control of Thomas. Ms. Greenbank identifies a ssegliencen the Order
that shecharacterizes as“egal determinatiotiin which westatel as follows “Ms.
Greenbank’s claim that Great American’s continued possession is unautl®rized

meritless because Ms. Greenbank never requested Thomas’s return, which allowed Great
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American the right and duty to retain possession @inds.”[Dkt. 63, at 3]. She thus
requests that we reconsider our Order so that we dactthis statement.

Great American responds that this statement was “merely a reiteration of Great
American’s arguments,” and does not reflect the Court’s adoption thereof. Great
American is correct. As Great American explains, Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration
omits mention othe full context of the Court’s order, specifically, the context in which
the Court issued this statement. That context makesdantlyclear that the disputed
sentence was contained squarely within a paragraph in which the Court was summarizing
Great American’s arguments and analykiplainly doesnotreflect asubstantive legal
conclusion by the Court

Ms. Greenback replies that this is thecase, “the Court can simply clarify that
the statement was the Court’s reiteration of Great Argument’s argum#afetthink that
IS unnecessary given this clarification. Accordingly,deay Ms. Greenbank’s Motion
for Reconsideration. Of course, now that the parties’ amu#sons for summary
judgment are ripe for ruling, we apesitionedto offer a more fulsomkegalanalysis of
this issue.

II. Ms. Greenbank’s Objection to the Magistrate Judge’s Order on
Documents Reviewed in Camera

A. Background

On July 26, 2019, Ms. Greenbank filed a Motion to Corspekingan order

compelling Defendant to produce certain documents@spbnd taleposition questions.
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By the time this motionvas filed Ms. Greenbank had served six sets of
discovery,comprised of more than one hundred individual requests for documents. These
included Ms. Greenbank’s Requests for Production (“RFP) seeking, in part, documents
relating to the possession, control, and treatment of Thomas, the policies, claims and
investigation under the policies, including internal communications, from June 2018 to
present.In response, Great American produced more B0 pages of documents,
including pre and postuit text communicationsy Great American personnel, Great
American’s presuit claim notes, postuit photographs, and videos of Thomas.

On May 7, 2019, Great American produced g@§e Privilege Log withholding
or redacting nearly 800 documents based on confidentiality, relevance, and attorney
client/workproduct privileges. Ms. Greenbank took issue with several documents
referencedn the original privilege logdemandingo review virtually all ofthe withheld
attorneyelient and workprodud privileged documents. On June 27, 2019, Great
American provided a Supplemental Privilege Log setting fadidfitional explanations for
withholdingthe items that Ms. Greenbas&ughtto review. The Supplemental Log
specifcally referencedesponsive documents withheld or redacted under privileges for (i)
attorneyelient, (ii) work product, (iii) relevance and, (iv) confidentiality.

In her Motion to Compel, Ms. Greenbank reqgadshat Great American be
ordered to (1) produce all documents identified in the Supplemental Privilege Log in their
native form, without redaction; (2) produce all internal documents and communications,
which originated after the filing of the Complaint and are responsive to Plaintiff's

Requests for Production in their native form, without redaction (3) prazhrtan

18



deponentgor second depositi@nand (4) be sanctioned in the amount of Ms.
Greenbank’s attorneys’ fees and costs incurred relating to the Motion to Compel and the
taking of the secon(follow up) depositions. The parties were unable to resolve these
issues informallyor with the assistance of the Magistrate Judg® hagresided over
no fewer tharseven telephonic conferendasan effortto resolve the parties’ discovery
disputes
On December 4, 2019, the Magistrate Judge granted in part and denied in part Ms.
Greenbank’s Motion to Compel. The relevaattn of that Order required Great
American to “provide an Amended Supplemental Privilege Log by December 11, 2019,
that further detaéldthe privilege assertions for itdaim motes.” As the Magistrate Judge
explainedn his order
When describing the Claim Note File in the Supplemental Log, Great American
lumps multiple claim notes in one row, omits the identity of the “sender,’hee., t
person creating the note, and instead identifies the persons as “Various;” omits the
identity of the “Receiver” and generally cites “Great American employees and
outside counsel for Great American;” does not include dates of the redact notes;
and fails to reasonably describe the subject matter as the “Description” section
provides no specificity. For example, the Coaannot discern if all the redacted
Claim notes were prsuit or if some were possulit.
[Dkt. 77, at 6].In the event that M$sreenbankonce in receipt of the Amended
Supplemental Privilege Lognaintained her belief that privilegbad been improperly
invoked with respect to theaim notes,hie Magistrate Judge permitted the partes

each select up to three claim notes for Great American to produce by December 18, 2019,

for anin-camerareview. On December 18, 2019, following the production of Great
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American’s Amended Supplemental Privilege *dbe parties notified the Court that
they did, indeed, desire amcamerareview. Great American assertint each disputed
claim notewasprotected from disclosure by the work product doctrine on the grounds
that allwere created following the initiain of litigationfor the purposesf aiding its
defense.

On January 2, 2020¢lfowing his detailedeview of the parties’ submissiotie
Magistrate Judge concludéhat Great American had properly exercised its right to
withhald the claim notepursuant to the work product doctrine.

In reaching this conclusion, the Magistrate Judge applied the legal principles
underlying the work product doctrinehich had been previousdrticulatedn his
December 4, 2019 order. As he explained therein,

The workproduct doctrine, announcediiickman v. Taylar329 U.S. 495

(1947), protects otherwise discoverable documents and was codified as Rule
26(b)(3)(A) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and provides:

[A] party may not discover documents and tangible things that are prepared

in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or for another party or its
representative (including the other party’s attorney, consultant, surety,

indemnitor, insurer, or agent). But, subject to Rule 26(b)(4), those materials

may be discovered if: (i) they are otherwise discoverable under Rule
26(b)(1); and (ii) the party shows that it has substantial need for the
materials to prepare its case and cannot, without undue hardship, obtain

their substantial equivalent by other means.. . . If the court orders discovery

of those materials, it must protect against disclosure of the mental

Impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of a party’s attorney or

other representative concerning the litigation.

® As noted by the Magistrate Judge, Great American fulfilled its duty to supply thea@olur
Ms. Greenbank with an Amended Supplement Privilege Log: “Great American supfadnts
previous onegow privilege log regarding the entire Claim File with a sepage privilege log
thatcorrected the aforementioned errors and permitted this Court to conduct a meaningful
review.” [Dkt. 85, at 2].
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To come within the qualified protection from discovery created by Rule 26(b)(3),
a party claiming protection must show that the materials sought are: (1) documents
and tangible things; (2) prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial; and (3) by
or for a party or by or for a party’s representatiVaremark, Inc. v. Affiliated
Computer Servs., Incl95 F.R.D. 610, 6134 (N.D. Ill. 2000).
[Dkt. 77, at 18].
The Magistrate Judgusdetermined that each disputeldim rote was created
after the date on which the lawsuit was filed, wheelisech significant change in the
relationship between the parties. The Magistrate Judge further noted that “Ms. Greenbank
has not provided the Cousiith case law that suggests that psgit claim notes of this
nature are discoverable absent a showing of substantial need,” which she had not
established. [Dkt. 85, at 3]. fact, the Magistrate Judgesvn research revealed that
such claim notes amotdiscoverableSee Logan v. Commercial Union Ins. (36 F. 3d
971, 977 (7th Cir. 1996) (holding that defendants had “clearly” “demonstrated that the
documents were created in anticipation of litigation” when all “documents for which
[defendant] claimed privilege were written after [plaintiff's] claim hadgessed,
investigated, and denied, and after [plaintiff] had already filed [suitjthanapolis
Airport Auth. v. Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of AgB014 WL 7360049, at *5 (S.D. Ind.
Dec. 23, 2014)pbjections overruled2015 WL 1013952 (S.D. Ind. Mar. 2015)
(holding thatthe workproduct doctrine applied to documents after the date of a letter
which “indicate[d] a significant change in the relationship between the insurer and the

insured as the interest of the parties no longer align{&hpton v. Allstate Property &

Cas. Ins. Cq.278 F.R.D. 193, 196 (S.D. Ind. 20X8plding that seven insurance record
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entries dated after plaintiff filed her lawsuit need not be produced based on work product
doctrine).

We now address Ms. Greenbank’s objectitanthe Magistrate Judge’s January 2,
2020 Order

B. Standard of Review

Rule 72(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part, that
the district court “must consider timely objections and modify or set aside any part of the
order that is clearly erroneous or is contrary to law.” A finding is clearly erroneous when
the reviewing court is “left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been
committed.” Brown v. Plata 563 U.S. 493, 513 (2011). This is an “extremely detekn
standard.’Elder Care Providers of Indiana, Inc. v. Home Instead,,IN0. 1:14CV-
01894SEB-MJD, 2017 WL 4250107, at *2 (S.D. Ind. Sept. 26, 20%&§g also Pinkston
v. Madry, 440 F.3d 879, 888 (7th Cir. 2006). Additionally, arguments not madeebefor
the magistrate judge are normally waivekhited States v. MelgaR27 F.3d 1038, 1040
(7th Cir. 2000)

C. Analysis

We note at the outset two significant deficiencies in Ms. Greenbahjéstion.

First, she has faileth recognize that an objectibma specific ruling by the
Magistrate Judge is not an opportunityégountevery grievancene has with one’s
adversary or withhe Magistrate Judge. To the extent Ms. Greenbastjections seek
remedies or relief for issues unrelatear unaddressed by the Magistrate Judge’s

January 2, 2019 Orddaheywill be disregardedby usas irrelevantinappropriate and
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misguided® We remindMs. Greenbank that we have before usrésiew only the
specific findings of the Magistrate Judge as set out ilrdisr to which she has objected.

Second, Ms. Greenbatlascompletely ignord the substantial deference thlaé¢
district court judge affords magistrate judge’s rulinop these circumstances. Not once
does Ms. Greenbartite tothe appropriate standard of review, and she certambhgr
applies it. Herobjectiors are interposenh complete disregard of clear statutory authority
providing that amagistrateydge’s decisioris to be overturnedrdy if it is “clearly
erroneous.” Her objections are devoid of any argument that the Magistrate Judge
committed clear erran concludingthat the work product doctrine shielded the disputed
claim notes from disclosure.

Notwithstanding thse significahoversighs, we will briefly address her specific
objections

The gravamenf Ms. Greenbank’ebjectionss that because Great American
maintainsclaim notes as an ordinary businpsacticeand, more specifically, maintained
claim notes related to Thomas’s health issubsdisputed claim notes had bhave been
created in the ordinary caeof business. However, this theory ignoresldgal
authorities thasupport the Magistrate Judge’s finding that a significant change in the
relationship between an insured and an indinaioccurs when the two become

adversaries in litigatiotransformdgtems that once might have been createtbf

10 This includes, but is not limited to, her arguments that Great American is “withéold
additional ¢aim notes not described on any privilegg'l and that Great American has failed to
establish that the attornejient privilege attaches to each disputkdm note.
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ordinary business practices into documents created for the purposes of litigti®n
faultsthe Magistrate Judge for failing to cite a case with facts identical to thistthe
same timeshe, as the Magistrate Judge obsgregesno case supporting a findirthat
undermines hisWhile the cases cited by the Magistrate Judge may possess certain
distinguishing aspects, Ms. Greenbank fails to exglain she believethe Magistrate
Judge’s interpretation and application of this case law is clearly erroneous. Wwdeed,
had that his conclusion is entirely consistent with the cases upon which he hasSeéed
Logan 96 F. 3dat 977;Indianapolis Airport Auth.2014 WL 7360049, &; Compton
278 F.R.Dat 196!

TheMagistrate Judge’s January 2,2200rdermwas not issued in a vacuum. He has
conductecho fewer than seven conferences with the pairties effort to facilitate a
resolution ofthese discoveryssues Prior toconductinghis in camera reviewf the

challenged documents$ie had invested significaatiditionaljudicial resource

11 Ms. Greenbank also didizesGreat American’s redaction of a column within its Claim File
entitled “Claim Note Topic.” She raida similarissuewith the Magistrate Judge when she
requested than camerareview. However, as the Magistrate Judgled in hisJanuary 2, 2020
Order, Ms. Greenbank has waived an argument on this issue for failing to raiteeitiarlier
briefing on the Motion to Compel. In h@bjection, Ms. Greenbank continues to voice her
disagreementvith this redaction. However, we agree with the Magistrate Judge: Ms. Greenbank
had ample opportunity t@isethis issue in earlier briefing and did not. She cannot du Hus

much belated timeHer attemto argue that Great American has improperly redacted a column
entitled “Claim Note Subject” fails for the same reason. Additionally, in heresgdorin
camerareview, she arguthat Great American’s privilege log was a “moving target” because of
its modifications (made pursuant to Court order) to information on the privilegéheg.

Magistrate Judge rejected this argunmeitvell, stating that it would not “punish Great

American for complying with this Court’s entrgquiringa more detailed, amended privilege log
that better served this Court’s and Ms. Greenbank’s review.” Ms. Greenlohjgcsonrenews
hercomplaintthat Great American’s privilegeg is a “moving target,hile offeringabsolutely

no argumento establish any error on the partioé Magistrate Judge.
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reviewing and resolvinghany otheissuesaised byMs. Greenbankn her Motion to
Compel. Ms. Greenbank’s wholly sumpported objections the Magistrate Judge’s
January 2, 2020 Order provides no basis on which to derogate from the deference his
rulings are entitled to by overturning or revising any of them.

As a final matterye note that the parties dispute whether Great American’s
employeesdeposition testimony establishes that all ofdla@m rotes were, in fact,
created in the ordinary course of Great American’s busikiéssvill not venture intdhe
kind of protractecanalysis oach deposition that would be required in order to
determine whether the evidence supports Ms. Greenbank’s theory.

For these reasons, Ms. Greenbank’s objection to the Magistrate Judge’'ssOrder
overruled.

Analysis
l. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is appropriate where there are no genuine disputes of material
fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a);
Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 3223 (1986). A court must grant a motion for
summary judgment if it appears that no reasonable trier of fact could find in favor of the
nonmovant on the basis of the designated admissible evidemderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 2448 (1986). We neither weigh the evidence nor evaluate
the credibility of witnessesd. at 255, buview the facts and the reasonable inferences
flowing from them in the light most favorable to the nonmovittConnell v. McKillip

573 F. Supp. 2d 1090, 1097 (S.D. Ind. 2008).
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Courts often confront crosaotions for summary judgment because Rules 56(a)

and (b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure allow both plaintiffs and defendants to
move for such relief. In such situations, courts must consider each party’s motion
individually to determine if that party has satisfied the summary judgment staKdatd.
v. Ass’n. of Trial Lawyers of Aml83 F.R.D. 475 (D. Md. 1998). Here, the Court has
considered the parties’ respective memoranda and the exhibits attached thereto and has
construed all facts and drawn all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most
favorable to the respective nonmovaviatsushita475 U.S. at 574.

Il. Discussion

A. Great American is entitled to Summary Judgment on Ms. Greenbank’s Breach of
Contract Claim

“Matters involving disputed insurance policy terms present legal questions and are
particularly apt for summary judgmengttie Indem. Co. for Subscribers at Erie Ins.
Exch. v. Estate of Harris by Harri89 N.E.3d 625, 629 (Ind. 2018), reh'g denied (Aug.
23, 2018).

Both parties seek summary judgment abit Greenbank’s allegation that Great
Americanbreached the insurance contract when it failed to pay a covered mortality loss
provided for inthe Policy. This breach of contract claim is at the heart of the parties’
legal disputes. Great American, whicas advanaka variety of grounds on whidh
claimsit is entitled to summary judgment ongbreach of contract claim, begins with
the question: Does the continued survival of Thomas foreclose Msnlaznek’s

entitlement under the Policy to mortality coverage benefits? Great American maintains
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that Thomas’s continued existence obviouldyeatsany claim that Ms. Greenbanksha
incurred acoveredoss under the Policy. Ms. Greenbank disagrees, thougiatimrale
IS not so straightforward. We address the parties’ respective positions betown

Great American’s theory of defense is cléhe Policythatprovided coveragaas
based on Thom&s“Mortality,” which is definedin the Policy as the “death” or
“authorized humane destructioaof Thomas.Thomas remainseither dead nor
destroyed. “No further inquiry in needed,” says Great American, arguinlylthat
Greenbank cannot genuinely dispute that she has sustained a covered loss under an
equinemortality policy when Thomas is still in existencelavingsuffered no coved
loss, clearly Great American has not breached the Policy by failing to pay pritaeds
arecontingent on such a loss.

Ms. Greenbank does not agree that the anatydlss issuas so straightforward,
arguing that, by seeking EUOs, Great Amerieagentiallyadmitted the existence of a
covered loss and cannot now assert otherwise. For context, we revisit S&08y®) of
the policy

G. Your Duties In The Event Of A Covered Cause of Loss

It is a condition precedent to any liability by us under this pdhey, in the event

of any loss of a “horse” because of the occurrence of a Covered Cause of Loss,

you do each and every one of the following or have it done by another:
[omitted]
[omitted]
[omitted]
[omitted]

Assist and cooperate with us and our representatives in the adjustment
and investigation of any claim or potential claim by:

arwpdPE
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a. providing us and our representatives with access to any
person(s), information, records and documents we may require;

b. 238mitting and, so far as is within your power causing other
persons to submit, to examinations under

Ms. Greenbanknaintains that, according to the plain language of this provision,
her duty to submit to an EOU was triggemady in the event that a “coverex@dusdoss”
occurred. Heunderstanding abection VI(G)turns on a covered losginga condition
precedent to EUOsByY demanding that Ms. Greenbank appear for an EOU and
subsequently using her failure to appear as a defense, Great Amerieasdrdglly
conceded that a “covereduseof loss”hadoccurred, argues Ms. GreenbaSke
contends that if no covered cause of loss occurred stigmad no duty to appear for an
EOU, and Great American should bstoppedrom using her failure to participate
theran as a shield to liabilityAccordingly, Great American has effectively pled itself out
of the defense that no covered loss occurred, according to Ms. Greenbank, mooting any
“need[by theCourt td make a determination of the specific covered loss” that h
occurred.

Great American responds that Ms. Greenbank’s arguohesutly “lacks legal
merit[,]” in that it“contradicts principles of Indiana insurance coverage and disregards
reality.” That reality, is of course, that Thomasidl alive. Great Americaalso raises
several defenses to Ms. Greenbank’s interpretation of the Retiygas well as Indiana
law, including the absence of angvered loss Although it has asserted various

alternative defenses, Great American argues that the Court can begin and end its analysis

of thisissue withthefact that Thomas is, by all accourgs]l alive.
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We turn to principles ahsurancecontract constructioto determine whether ¢h
covered cause of logsovisionin the Policyis cancelled or mooted or otherwise
overcome byGreat American’s request for Ms. GreenbankOUSs.

When interpreting an insurance policy such as this one, “we give plain and
ordinary meaning to language that is clear and unambiguduggd Farm Family Mut.

Ins. Co. v. Mathenyl14 N.E.3d 880, 885 (Ind. Ct. App. 2018ans. denied124 N.E.3d

40 (Ind. 2019)The language is unambiguous if “reasonable persons could not honestly
differ as to its meaningld. To this end, we look to see “if policy language is susceptible
to more than one interpretationd. Here, the parties do not gigtethat the language is
unambiguous, nor could they as the disputedtecovered cause of losss defined

and clearly only provides insurance coverage for Thomas’s death or destruction, neither
of which ha occurred? Glob. Caravan Techs., Inc. v. Cincinnati Ins..Ci85 N.E.3d

584, 588 (Ind. Ct. App. 2019%ans. denied2020 WL 888617 (Ind. Feb. 20, 2020)
Pursuant to this definition, with little difficulty, therefonee reach the conclusion that
Thomas’songoing existence serves aBa toMs. Greenbank’slaimon the grounds

thata coverectausdoss hasiot occurred.

We do agree with Ms. Greenbank, howevlat the Policy as writtetioes not
permitGreat Americarto condition its own liability on Ms. Greenbank’s compliance
with theEOUssince the EOU proceduig contingent on the existence of a covered

cause ofoss. Because a covereduse of loss has not occurred, Great American cannot

12The Policy also provides coverage for “Theft” and “Wobbler Syndrome,” neither of wiich a
at issue here.

29



use Ms. Greenbank’s failure to submit to an EOU before filing sutsagord against
her. While aguablythis Policy provisiorprovidesthat Ms. Greenbank’'slaim of a
covered loss triggered her duty to appear for the EaCargument implietiut never
fully articulated by Great Americaa plain reading of the Policy does not support that
interpretationt? In the face of conflictingnterpretations, we are requiredinderpret the
Policy in favor of the insuredd.!* Notwithstanding this beneficial interpretation, this
defense is ultimately futile, given our determination that no covess has occurred.

Great American’s request for EOUs did not constitute a concession that a covered
cause of loss occurrebleither wast a breactof the contract by Great American to have
requestd theEOUs when it was also challenging the existence of a covered cause of

loss Pursuant tats plain language, the Policy bestows a duty on Ms. Greenbank, in the

13 Great American correctly cites the general rule in insurance coverage disputas thsured
has a duty to submit for EOUs. However, this general rule is contingent on policy langudége muc
broader than that in the parties’ Policy. For example, insurance contractsegjiée insured to
participate in EOUs in the event of “a loss to which this insurance may appbtér v. State
Farm Fire & Cas Ca, 674 F.3d 663, 664, 2012 WL 884857 (7th Cir. 2012). That is obviously
not how the Policy was written here. We recognize that EOUs serve an importatiateey
purpose, so it is unclear (though unnecessary for us to evaluate) why Great Americatrafould
the portion of this Policy so narrowly. Following an exhaustexeew, we found no Indiana case
law evaluating such narrow language witthe context of an EOU provision.

14 Notably, Great American has not disagreed that a covered causedassiition precedent

to Ms. Greenbank’s duty to participate in EOUs. However, we do not view GreaicAnig
silence on this singular component of the analysis as a complete concession thatddl@swere
has occurred, as Ms. Greenbank requests that we do. Great American has adamantly,
consistently, and veraciously maintained that no covered cause loss has occuoeldl tiew
nonsensical to find that it has conceded this pethe most hotly disputed issue in this
litigation—by not responding directly to one facet of Ms. Greenbank’s argument. At most, we
view Great American’s silence as a concession that the Policy should be constirmapdsang
EOU and production duties upon the insured only in the event of a caaersdoss. Indeed,
Great Americamesponds to every other aspect of Ms. Greenbank’s argument on this issue,
including that it has somehow “pled itself” out of a defense or “waived” its abil@gdert an

EOU defense.
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event of a covered cause of loss, to participate in an EQparallel termsGreat
Americanis entitled under the Policy to assert that Ms. Greenbank has not fulfilled this
duty to participate in an EOUrhis language in the Policy simply does not justifg.M
Greenbank’snterpretation or her insistence that Great Ametgdemand for EOUs
relinquishedts ability to dispute whether@vered cause of loggcurred The
provision plainlyimposes durden orthe insured to act in a particular way in the event
of a covered losdyutit does not condition or restri@reat American’sight to request
EOUs or document productidiasecon the existence of a covereause of les!® Great
Americanbased its refusal to pay benefits under the Policy in part orsiised’s
recalcitrancen submitting to the EOU. However,ishmust be viewed asn alternative
ground for norpayment, and since Great American has claimed theofezlcovered
cause of loss as its basis for withholding payment of insurance benefits, it sacrexd
in withholding benefits based on Ms. Greenbank’s refusal to participate in the EOU
We pause tdoriefly address Ms. Greenbanldsgumenthat Great American has
“pled itself out of the defense” of there beimg coveredcauseof losssince Thomas is
still alive. This contentions largely intewovenwith her argument that Great American

conceded aavered loss by requesting EOUs and document production. Ms. Greenbank

15 Moreover,contrary toMs. Greenbarik description othe facts, Great American never
demanded EOUs or documerdther itrequestedhat Ms. Greenbank submit to tlubligation

under the contract. [Dkt. 513]. Further, thigequesfrom Great American was maeeth a full
reservation of rightayvherein it specifically statt “None of our actions, including our requests
for documents, your Examination Under Oath, and the four additional Examinations should be
considered or construed to be a waiver or estoppaliofights under your policy with us or
applicable law’. [Id.].
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assertiorthat Great American has “pled itself out of a case” reflects the principle that
“the exercise of a contingent contractual right admits the contingency has occWeed.”
canrot adopt this argument for tweally goodreasons. First, we hayeeviously
concluded that Great American did not concede the existence of a covered dasse of
by requesting EOUNothing in SectiorVI(G) conditions Great American’s ability to
requesEOUs on the existence of a covered loss; rathat Section triggers Ms.
Greenbank’s duty to comply with any such requests. Second, none of Ms. Greenbank’s
citedcase law supports a finding that Great American has somehow “pled itself out of
court” in this fashion'®

Moreover,as Great American put it, a contrdinyding would defy logic.Under
the clear terms of the Policg coveredcause blossarises only in the event of Thomas’s
death.Thomas is not dead, and furth&reatAmericanhas never mistakenly believed he
was dead.Ms. Greenbank has no factual basis on which to assert othéefwise.

We conclude this discussiday addressing/ls. Greenbank’slaim that Great

American hasomehowunreasonably prevented Thomas’s euthanizalibroughout her

1 Tamayo v. Blagojevighb26 F.3d 1074, 1086 (7th Cir. 2008) (plaintiff's arguments suggesting
an alternative ground for relief did not allege any facts establishing an “impleleeiefense” to
her claim);Konecranes, Inc. v. Davig013 WL 1566326, at *3 (S.D. Ind. Apr. 12, 2013)
(plaintiff pled itself out of Court when its allegations negated an essential e¢lefitertious
interference with business relationship clailgtrakopoulou VDHR Int'l, Inc, 590 F. Supp. 2d
1013, 1016 (N.D. Ill. 2008) (countetaimant may plead itself out of court by attaching
documents that show it is not entitled to judgmehltyminum Co. of Am. v. City of Lafayette

412 N.E.2d 312, 314 (Ind. Ct. App. 1®Fcountesplaintiff “pled itself out of court by
affirmatively alleging its claim for malicious prosecution had not yet matured”).

17 This analysis applies with equal force to Great American’s claim that Ms. Gusefdiled to
properly furnish Thomas'’s records, a duty also only imposed on her in the event of a covered
cause ofoss.
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recitation of the facts, Ms. Greenbamksbroadly alludd to Great American’s failure to
considerThomas'’s “insured use as a show horse, his future athleticism or Julie’s insured
investment” in its determination of whether to euthanize Thomas. Her legal analysis goes
no deeper than to conclusively staféhé facts evidence a ‘loss’ for ‘authorized humane
destruction, which Defendant’si€] unreasonably withheld.’Not until her discussion of
Great American’s alleged bad faith does dwealysis go any deeper.

Specifically,Ms. Greenbanklaims that Great American is not permitted to
“unreasonably, arbitrarily, or out of seffterest” withhold itsconsent to Thomas'’s
euthanization.She cites for this propositiatecadesld case®riginatingfrom outside
Indiang though she makes little to no effort to applyitipeinciples hereé? Even
assuming her legal arguments eoerect,there is ndactual support fofinding that
Great Americarunreasonablyarbitrarily or otherwisemproperlywithheld Thomas’s
euthanization.Ms. Greenbank haonsistently sidestepp@sh accurate recitatioof
thesefacts in order tsecure a favorable ruling

Ms. Greenbank alleges that Great Amerinamer “consider[edjvhether it was
reasonable teuthanize” Thomasinstead, she say&reat American “ignored two
veterinarian opinions that Thomas’s condition justified euthanasial.]” However, there is

absolutelyno evidence in the recoi support a finding that Great American “did not

18 SeeSchefler v. Livestock & Cas. Ins. 44 A.D.2d 811, 355 N.Y.S.2d 608 (App. Div. 1974);
Rosen v. Underwriters at Lloyd’s of Londd®0 F. Supp. 825, 825 (E.D. Pa519 Rodgers v.
Ins. Co. of Pg 513 S.W.2d 113, 116 (Tex. Civ. App. 1974).
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consider” the reasonableness of euiation, or that it ignored two veterinarians
recommending euthanization. [Dkt.-85141147].

The two veterinarians referenced here are Dr. Stone and Dr. MacGillray.
Stone’s involvementvaslimited to his statement on June 8, 2018 that Thomas
“probably” needed euthanized. Dr. Stone plainly did not offer any opinion that Tisomas
condition was “incurable” or otherwise indicate that alternative treatments Wweuld
unreasonable or inhumane. Additionally, Dr. Stone acknowledged that another option
would be to “rework” Thomas’s treatment plan. [Dkt-®5141147].

Once in receipt of Dr. Stone’s opinion that euthanization “might be the humane
thing” to do, Great Amecanmade note of that recommendatiethat Dr. Stone felt that
Thomas might need to be euthanized. Great American chose to exercise its rights
pursuant to the Policy to take possession of Thamd$o enlistits veterinarians to
assess his healtlGreatAmerican advised Ms. Greenbatfiat itintended to retain Dr.
Slovis as a consulting veterinarian. [Dkt-T9]. Dr. MacGillivray, who oversaw
Thomas'’s initial intake at Hagyard and coordinated his treatment plan, wouldtoeport
Dr. Slovis

As with Dr. Stone, Dr. MacGillivray never offered the opinion that euthanization
was the only reasonable course of action. To the contrenyghshe recognized theery
real possibility of needing to euthanize Thomas, her professional opiniothatas
Thomas should be comprehensively treated before any such decasiorade. This
opinion was based on heeliefthat Thomas had not been receiving prapedical

treatment or care, and thus she was uncertain as to how he would respond if afforded
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adequatereterinarian services. Even the evidence Ms. Greenbank proffeisusly
reflects this opinionFor example, Claim Note 158 states, in part:

The horse has two significant issues going-t¢ime chest adress and the RH foot

abscess. If they cannot get him comfortable RH then even if they resolve the chest

abscess (which is nout of the question- [Dr. MacGillivray] has resolved cases

like these before} then she will Rxhumane euthanasia. It would not be

unreasonableo make that recommendation nevbut she does not want to do so

sine Bic] the horse has received no treatment for theseesand she believes

that they should at least try to see if they can improve his comfort and treat the

abscess with the understanding that the prognosis is guarded. Dr. MacGillivray

expressly stated that there were treatments that could have been performed that
were not, she does not know why and no one has given her a reason why not|[.]

Moreover, there is simplgo evidence that Great American was ignoring
veterinarian advicen selecting a treatment plam. support of this claim, Ms. Greenbank
cites Ms. Bloxsom’s deposition testimony, which, once again, does not establish the point
Ms. Greenbank is attempting to makds. Bloxsom testified that Great American had
“employed a qualified veterinarian” and was following their recommendations regarding
treatment. [Dkt. X, at 152.] This included “treating the horse according to ifstegm
and see[ing] how he improvedd] at 195].

Ms. Greenbank, despite the criticisms of Great American for these
mischaraterizations of the facts, still ha$feredno rebuttable. She offers no further
evidentiary support for her claim that Great American ignoredineténs’
recommend@ons to euthanize Thomas. Indeed élvidence supports an opposite
finding: that GreaAmerican knew euthanization was possible, but that its chosen

veterinarianwhose credibility as a vet hastbeen questioned) believed that it was

prudent to treat Thomas'’s ailments, and Great American followed this advice
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We move next taaddress Great American’s claim that Ms. Greenlbarsk
misrepresermidthe meaning of Thomas’s “insured Jsand, more specifically, thavs.
Greenbankmproperly argueshatGreat American failed to consider this “insured use”
when making decisions for Thomas’s health. [Dkt. 95, at 17]

Ms. Greenbank’'sepeatedeferences to Thomas'smisured use” refers to another
provision in the Policyhat provides mortalitgoverage so long as Thomas had bessd
only for hisspecifiedpermitted purpose, which was that of a show h¢gRie. 1-3, Sec.
VI(C)]. As Great Americarexplains this provision simply means that Ms. Greenbank
would nothave beemntitled to coverage if Thomas had been used in a diffeed@tjory
of activity without first receiving Great American’s authorization. It does not, as Ms.
Greenbank appears to believe, provide coverage for Th®mmses onlyas a show horse.
Importantly, says Great American, Ms. Greenbank dicemenhave coverage for “loss
of use,” that is, the Policy did nptovidecoverage in the event Thomas was unable to
perform as a show horse. Thus, argues Great American, it had no duty to consider
“Thomas’s future athleticism” or Ms. Greenbank’s “investment” in Thomas as a show
horse, when reachints decisions for Thomas’s heattire [Dkt. 95, at 17, Dkt95-2 at
15152, 195].

Ms. Greenbank offeminimal rebuttalon this point. She does not dispute Great
American’s construction of the Policy language, which appears to comport with a plain

reading of the “permitted use” provisiéhor explain how this provision otherwise

19 Section VI(C) specifically provides: “It is a condition precedent of any lighly us under
this policy that no ‘horse’ is used at any time during the ‘policy period’ or during any extens
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entitles her to insurance coverage for Thomas’s use as a show horse. Nor does she offer
any other explanation as to why Great American would have been required to consider
Thomas'’s “use” when decidings course of treatmepiursuant to this provision absent
coverage for “loss of uselnstead, shargueghat, by rendering Thomas a pleasure
horse, Thomawould no longer be used for his permitted purpose and Great American
would have voidedher ability to receivdenefits

This argumentimportantly, revealsMs. Greenbarik understanithg of the
purpose of the permitted use provision, whichasto provide her coverage for
Thomas’s use as a show horse but rather to define the scthy@dciplines (and
ultimately what risks) he may be exposed to. Moreover, even if Thomas’s use as a
pleasure horse avea separate “disciplingas Ms. Greenbantelieves(though Great
American disagrees), there is simply no indication that Great American would have
voided Policycoverage on the grounds that its own actions taken pursuant to the Policy
altered Thomas'’s use.

Ms. Greenbarik minimalresponse to these arguments and Policy provisions

leaves her without a claim against Great American on this.Basisthing within the

of coverage for any purpose that is not specified in the Declarations. If you iotesel &

‘horse’ for a purpose other than that specified in the Declarations, you migtusan advance

of that use and secure our agreement in demrgndorsement to insure the "horse" for that other
purpose. If we agree to do so, we may condition our agreement on the payment of additional
premium?”

20 Thoughbriefly touched upon, but not directly at issue in the parties’ summary judgment
briefing is the question of whether Great American committed a breach of ¢dmytigmproving

the tenectomyWe encourage Ms. Greenbank to consider the viability of this dafore

pressing forward with i light of our rulingon the permitted use provision.

37



Policy mandated that Great Americaonsider Thomas’s value as a show horse in its
decisionmaking proceswith regard to his care

Finally, we note that while Ms. Greenbank preseptsaininformation related to
Thomas’s ongoing health issues during the period heanm@seat American’s care, she
neveradvancesny substantiated claithat Great American’s ongoing medical care of
Thomas wasomehow inhuman@side from a allegation in her Amended Complaint
and a conclusory statement that it is “cruel” of Great Americ&eepa “blank check”
to keep Thomas aliyé! She does notontendthat Thomas’s healtwasso deteriorate
that itwas inhumanand unreasonable to keep him alive rather than to euthanize him.
Instead, her argument orefe issueBasfocusedentirely on how Great American’s
medical treatment of Thomas destroyed his econealiee as a show horsad that his
continued costlycare as a pasture Iserisunreasonable in light of his supposed
“‘insured” use

Ms. Greenbank disagrees wineat American’s decisions, apparently preferring
that Thomade euthanized rather than reretbs pasture horse. However, she has
offered no cogent analysis as to how this belief entitles her to insurance proceeds
pursuant to th@olicy. We cannot conclude thah“unreasonable withholding” gives rise
to a covered cause of loss when Ms. Greenbank has not supported her claim of

“unreasonableness” with any reasoned discussion supported by faet.

21 Ms. Greenbank also accuses Great American of “sugar coating” Thomas’s current health
status. In response, Great American argues it is being entirely forthnghtr@active in its
communications regarding Thomas’s health. Ms. Greenbank does not offebattglr
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Having determined that no covereausdoss has occurred, we need not review
the parties’ remaining arguments on this issue. Summary judgngranied for Great
American on this breach of contract claim against it.

B. Great American is Entitled to Summary Judgment on Ms. Greenbank’s Bad Faith
Claim for Denial of Coverage

Ms. Greenbank argues that Great American breached its duty of good faith when it
denied coverage pursuant to the Policy’s mortality provision.

“Indiana law has long recognized that there is a legal duty implied in all insurance
contracts that the insurdeal in good faith with its insuredAllstate Ins. Co. v. Fields
885 N.E.2d 728, 732 (Ind.Ct.App.2008his obligation includes theéuty to refrain
from: “(1) making an unfounded refusal to pay policy proceeds; (2) causing an
unfounded delay in payment; (3) deceiving the insured; and (4) exercising an unfair
advantage to pressure an insured into settlement of his'ctkamowledge AZ, Inc. v.
Sentry Ing 857 N.E.2d 411, 422 (Ind. Ct. App. 200®& claim of bad faith based on a
denial of coverage or refusal to pay exists when the insurer denies a claim despite
knowing it lacks a rational, principled basis for doing $6MV Indy |, LLC v. HSB
Specialty Ins. Co413 F. Supp. 3d 801, 806, 2019 WL 4193378 (S.D. Ind. 2019)

The Court hasleterminedas a matter of law &t Great American did not
improperly denymortality coverageAccordingly, it cannot be found to have acted in bad
faith. Kartman v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins..C634 F.3d 883, 891, 2011 WL 488879
(7th Cir. 2011) Shifrinv. Liberty Mut. Ing 991 F. Supp. 2d 1022, 1045, 2014 WL 87877

(S.D. Ind. 2014)Notwithstanding this conclusion, we briefly review Ms. Greenbank’s
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related arguments with respect to her positionhieabad faith claim should survive
summary judgment

First, Ms. Greenbank argues that Great American “intentionally disregarded”
Policy terms by requestirthat she participate in EOUs despite denying this existence of
acovered ause ofoss. However, she offers no explanation for the way in whish t
argument supposta finding of bad faith in the event that Court ruled against her on the
coverage claim. While we agree that Great American is foreclosed from using her failure
to participate in the EOUs prior to initiating suit against her, Ms. Greenbank
insufficiently explainshow Great American’s conduat this regardeflectsill will” as
opposed to a good faith dispute as to construction of the EOU provision.

Ms. Greenbalk claimsthat Great American’s admission that it is “cheaper to pay

Thomas’s continued treatment than a mortality claim” “evidences [its] dishonest purpose
and ill will.” Her contentions based oman email exchange between Ms. Bloxsem
supervisor Meriweather Moore, andathy Coyne, Great American’s Vice President for

its Equine Mortality Provision, during which Ms. Moore stated, “Yikes!! | can’t believe
we're still incurring bills like that 4 months out.” Ms. Coyne responded, “l guess it is
better than $500k ! ! I” Ms. Greenbank places too nmatobk in the evidentiary value of

this passing statemeby Ms. Coyne. Irfact, this email does not show that Great

American acted dishonestly “in refusing to pay the admitted Covered Cause of Loss and
keeping Thomas alive just to avoid such a claim.” The only things it reflects is Ms.

Coyne’s acknowledgaentthat they were paying less in Thomas’s medical expenses than

$500,000.Clearly, what the enail doesnot show is that Great American deceitfully
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concocted a plan to preserve Thomas’s life with complete disregard for his health, as Ms
Greenbank apparently believescurred

Finally, we review Ms. Greenbank’s argument that Great American created for
itself a conflict of interest when it took control of Thomas’s health. Specifically, she
argues thaGreat American’s conduct placed it in the roles of both insurer and insured.
However, her prdéredcases simply do not support a finding that an insurer acts in bad
faith when itsassertgontrol over the insured propertyee Stephan v. Unum Life. Ins.
Co. of Am.697 F. 3d 917, 929 (9th Cir. 2012) (evaluating whether claims administrator
violated fiduciary duties imposed by ERISAnodgrass \Baize, 405 N.E.2d 48, 53
(Ind. Ct. App. 1980) (evaluating conflict of interest between insured and insurer within
the duty to defend contextphefurtherclaims that Great American’s inteteonflicted
with her own, though she offers no explanation as to how this gives rise to a bad faith
claim. Finally, sheacknowledgeshat Great American had instructed veterinarians at
Hagyard to act in Thomas'’s interest, yet, once again, téadfer any coherent analysis
as to how this gives rise to a bad faith clatpparently believing that any act taken by
Great American which did not exclusively and directly serve her desire to receive a pay
out d the Policybenefitswas in bad faitlwill not carry the day in preserving these
claims??

What remainstill unaddressed by the coustwhether Great American acted in

bad faith by either 1) denying coverage for certain medical expenses or 2) refusing t

22 For example, Ms. Greenbank takes issue with the fact that, “Dr. MacGillivragmasgvocate
for Thomas'’s interests and not [Ms. Greenbank’s] interests.” [Dkt. 80, .at 48]
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honor Ms. Greenbank’s Guaranteed Renewal EndorsethBatause the breach of
contract allegations underlying thelatedclaims of bad faith have yet to be resolved, we
cannot determine at this juncture whettiegse alleged breaches were committed in bad
faith.

C. State Law Claims

Great Americarnas movedor summary judgment on Ms. Greenbank’s state law
claims, brought pursuant to Indiana common law and the Indiana Crime Victims Relief
Act (“CVRA"), Ind. Code§ 34-24-3-1 (2019),which affords victims of various crimes a
civil remedy. Ms. Greenbank’s claims for theft, statutory conversion, criminal mischief,
and statutoryraud are governed by the CVRA, whereas her claims for common law
fraud and common law coaxsionas well as her negligence claim are not.

Great Americaras incorporatelly reference its brief in support of its Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings, which the Cpuetiiously deniedin our denial, wanoted
that Great Americahadsought dismisal of all of Ms. Greenbank’s state law claims on
the groundshat she had not properly pled that Great American had exercised

“unauthorized control or possession of Thomas.” Howewveruled therghat Great

23 This includes her bad faittfaimsthat Great American denied medical expenses without a
rational basis and that Great American improperly issued a “sham policyitedicoverage

rather than honoring the Guaranteed Renewal Endorsement. We have disregardathat this t
certainadditionalbad faith arguments that seemingly have no connection to any of the coverage
disputes. For example, Ms. Greenbank asserts that a Great American emplogperimpr

shared a video of Thomas to friends, family, and others stating “it was the agestfchuse

and neglect she had ever seen.” Though this may haveed@Q@atat American’s internal ethical

or confidentiality policies, Ms. Greenbank does not explain how such internal violkston a
offendsthe contrac¢ual principles of bad faith. Similarly, MsGreenbank offers no explanation as

to how Great American’s continued control of Thonmaplicatesbad faith.
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American had failed to recognize (a failure which continues in its summary judgment
briefing) that “unauthorized control” sselement onlyof theft, statutory conversion, and
common law conversiomot criminal mischief or fraud. We also rejected Great
American’s ontentionghat unauthorized control had been insufficiently pled on the
grounds that the Policy authorized such control, explaining therein:

Great American never acknowledges Ms. Greenbank’'scoatractual

allegations. Great American places the full weight of its argument on the Policy
provisions authorizing its possession and control of Thomas but does virtually

nothing to address the portion of these legal claims based on its actions after the
terminaton of the Policy and outside of its terms. Even if we were fully persuaded

by Great American’s argument that it acted appropriately pursuant to its
unambiguous contractual authorization when it took possession and control of

Thomas, and even if there were no disputed factual matters on this issue, we could
not find for it. Each of these legal claims incorporates Ms. Greenbank’s allegations
that Great American continued to maintain possession and control of Thomas after

the termination of the Policy and to the date of the Operative Complaint without
her consent.

Great American repeanany of theedeficiencies in its summary judgment
briefs Notwithstandinghese shortcomingsve shall undertake eeview of whether
Great American is entitled to summary judgment on any of Ms. Greenbank’s state law
claims against it.

1. Great American i€ntitled toSummary ddgment on Ms. Greenbank’s
Conversion Claimsvith Respect to its Continued Control of Thomas

Ms. Greenbank charges Great American \wiking commitdtortious and
statutory conversion by exerting unauthorized control over Thomas following the
termination of the Policy.

The parties dispute tHegalelements of conversion under Indiana laath

ignoring the fact that Indiana imposssparatelements depending on whether the
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plaintiff is allegingtortiousconversion ocriminal conversion pursuant to the C¥R
Specifically, the parties disagree asvizether inalleging conversion, an essential
component of which is the defendant’s unauthorized corggalrdless of whether one is
pursuing a criminal or tortious conversion action, the plaintifst‘demand” the return
of the property. Ms. Greenbank says no, Great American sayBgthsarepartially
correct.

With respect to Ms. Greenbank’s allegations that Great American committed
tortious conversion by retaining unauthorized possession and control of Thomas
following the termination of the Policy, demand may be necessary. As this Court has
explained, “Where the initial possession is lawful, civil conversion occurs only after an
unqualified demand for returnO.K. Sand & Gravel, Inc. v. Martin Marietta Cary86
F. Supp. 1442, 1450 (S.D. Ind. 1998u¢ting Coffel v. Perry452 N.E.2d 1066, 1069
(Ind. Ct. App.1983)see also Aaron MacGregor & Associates, LLC v. Zhejiang Jinfei
Kaida Wheels Co328 F. Supp. 3d 906, 929, 2018 WL 3062404 (N.D. Ind. 2018)
However, if the initial possession was unlawful, the tort victim need not issue an
unqualified demandD.K. Sand & Gravel, Inc.786 F. Supp. at 1450. Statutory
conversion, on the other hand, does not require a plaintiff to make a demand for return.
Id. (“The elements necessary to establish conversion are those found in the criminal
statute . . . While a demaal return may be evidence as to the intent element, it is not
itself an element of criminal conversion.”)

We begin our review of Ms. Greenbank’s tortious conversion ataitimg thatit

Is uncontested between the parties that Great American’s initial possession and control of
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Thomas was lawful by virtue of its Policy rights. Accordingly, Great American is correct
in maintainirg that Ms. Greenbank was required to make an “unqualified demand” for
return in ordefor this claim to survive summary judgmeAaron MacGrego, 328 F.
Supp. 3d at 239. It isrtheruncontested that no demalnas occurred?

However, she may be excused from making a demand if “such a gesture would
have been futil®é SeeO.K. Sand & Gravel786 F. Supp. at 1456utility may befound,
for example, when the property has been disposed of or destroyed, or where the tortfeaser
assumes a position establishing that any demand would be fr&desd. Tucker v.
Capital City Riggers437 N.E.2d 1048, 1051 (Ind. Ct. App. 1982)

Ms. Greenbank claims that such “futility” existed éadRather than explaining
how this is so, she provides several citations to deposition excerpts and communications
between herself and Great Americanone of which support a finding of futilityMs.
Bloxsom’s deposition, and the text message between Ms. Bloxsom and Dr. MacGillivray,
merely establish that, at the time Great American took control of Thomas’s healthcare, it
directed Hagyard not to release Thomas to Ms. Greenbank absent a recommémdation
do so byDr. MacGillivray and Great American’s approvils. Bloxsomfurther testified
that she had not revisited the topic with Great American following the termination of the
Policy. Nothing in tlese depositioexcerps indicates how Great American would have

responded to a demand from Ms. Greenlfaligwing the termination of the Policy.

24 That the filing of this lawsuit could be interpreted as a demand or an objectioeab G
American’s continued control of Thomas is not an argument raised by Ms. Greenbank and not
one the Court will construct for her.
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Ms. Greenbank also cites the deposition testimony of Ms. Coyne, Misich
Greenbank argues reflec@eat American’®pinion thatany request for theeturn of
Thomas would have to go through “lawyers and the courts.” Howeeecitationdoes
not direct the Court to any such testimony. Moreover, with the help of Great American,
the Court located the testimony to which she was raolst referring, which doesot
support a finding that a demand for Thomas would be in¥d@Rather Ms. Coyne, when
guestioned on the topic, responded:

If Mrs. Greenbank decideshe wants the horse, then that would-b&bviously,

it's still her animal.- She coufuck it up.- But based on our litigation, that may be

something that would have to go througk attorneys and the courts.

[Dkt. 95-18, at 111]. Merely acknowledging that, because of ongoing litigation,
the courtanayhave to beomeinvolved cannot reasonably be said to render any demand
“futile” in light of the fact that Ms. Coyne clearly testdi¢hat Thomas belongs to Ms.
Greenbank, and thus he is hers to “pick up” if wla@edto do so.

Ms. Greenbank also cites an Indiana Supreme Court case from 1859 for the
proposition that “proof that the defendant promised to return the goods to the plaintiff,
and that he had not returned them, is sufficient evidence of a conversion, without
showing a demand and refusalfieMichigan Southern and Northern Indiana Railroad

Company v. Bivend 3 Ind. 227 (Ind. 1859%he argues that this applies where “an

insurance company exercises a right under a policy to take the insured’s property and

25 Ms. Greenbank has not argued that Great American, by virtue of its Motion toverese
Evidence in which it sought a court order authorizing its continued control of Thomestsref
position that any demand from her would have been in vain. Again, as reiterated throughout this
entry, the Court will not construct the parties’ arguments for them.
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subsequently terminates the policy and fails to return the insured’s property.” Ms.
Greenbank’s argument is largely condrysand undeveloped. Significantly, it fails to
comport with the modern rutéattortious conversion, in the context of what was once
lawful possession, necessitates demand. Additionally, stsnoitauthority supporting

her interpretation that the termination of the Policy translates into a “proof of a promise
to return” such that any demand would have been futile.

We next turn to Ms. Greenbank’s claim for statutoryvassion, for whicha
“demand” is not a gerequisite. Howeverthelack ofademand may negate the necessary
mens realement of statutory conversion, that is, that the defersdambwing or
intentional exeron of unauthorized control over another’s prope8wmeighv. Johns
Manwville, Inc.,643 F.3d 554, 563, 2011 WL 2555819 (7th Cir. 200LK. Sand &

Gravel, Inc, 786 F. Supp. at 1451. This is because, without a demand, a parhomay
“know” that it has exerted unauthorized control of another’s proddrtfdditionally, A
defendant reasonable belief that it hesntrolled or continued to control property with
the ownets consent defeats tineens reaelement of conversiorsmeigh 643F. 3d at

563.Whitlock v. Brown596 F.3d 406, 413 (7th Cir. 2010).

Great American argues that Ms. Greenbank’s lack of demand and apparent apathy
as to whether Great Americagtainedpossession of Thomas seste show that Great
American has not “knowirlg or intentionally” maintained unauthorized control of
Thomas Specifically, Great American stresses that Ms. Greenbankevasrequested

the return of Thomas. Once the Policy ended, Ms. Greenbank did not object to Great

a7



American’s continued care of him, nor has she voiced any objections since that time.
Additionally, Great American’s counseldsubmitted sworn affidavits stating that Ms.
Greenbank’s counsel represented to theamFebruary 201%elephonic status conference
that Great American could keep Thomas. [Dkt295Specifically, Great American
reports that the following exchange occurred:

Magistrate Judge: Do you want the horse or not?
Ms. Greenbank’s Counsel: No, as far as we are concerned they can keep it

Ms. Greenbank’s sole response to these averments is that Great American has
“failed to explain” how the “essence” of a telephone call was transcribed to a verbatim
guote.However, sh@ffers no objection to the “essenad’those statementsor the
admissibility of the affidavitgDkt. 108, at 3].Great American claims that it relied on
these representatioas well adVis. Greenbank’s lack of objections, and thegsonably
believedthat it was authorized to maintain control dfomasfollowing the termination

of this Policy

We find these circumstances analogous to those presented to the Seventh Circuit
in Smeigh v. Johns Manville, In&meigh 643 F. 3d at 554n Smeighan individual
terminated by his employer chargiae employer with unlawfully retaining his personal
property after his terminatiohd. at 557. At the time of his termination, the individual
was informed that his locker would be cleaned out and his personal property returned.
When some of his propertyas not returned, he accused his employer of committing
statutory conversioridd. The Seventh Circuit affirmed the district’'s grant of summary

judgment for the employer, notinlgat the individual had never objected to his former
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employer retaining his property at the time of his termination, nor had he ever demanded
the return of higroperty.ld. at 56465. Based on these inactions, the Seventh Circuit
concluded that the individual had failed to present evidence which couldraise

reasonable inference that the possession was knowingly unauthédized.

In similar fashion, Ms. Greenbank has not objected to Great American’s continued
control of Thomasshe has not demanded his return, and she has not offered any other
argument or an explanation that would support a finding that Great American has
knowingly acted without authorization in its continued control of Thomas. Her arguments
distilled down irto her belief that demand was not necessary, and, if it was, it would have
been futile. These arguments simply cannot withstand/éght ofauthorities and

evidencethat say otherwise

While determining if a defendant acted with the requisiéns reas generally a
guestion of fact, there is no evidence before us that would allow a reasonable juror to
conclude that Great American “knowingly or intentionally” exercised unauthorized
control over Thomas as necessary to establish liability under the CAEtArdingly,

Summary Judgment gganted for Great American on these claims.

26 Ms. Greenbank also accuses Great American of committing tortious and stebuoeysion
by converting her money into a “sham” shtatm renewal policy. Though Great American
briefly touches on this issue in its responsive briefings, this question has not bebndtdd in
a manner that is amenable to a summary judgment ruling. Accordingly, Counts IV and VII
survive summary judgment to the extent they relate to alleged conversion of Ms. @kéenba
money.
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2. Summary Judgment Must Be Granted to Great American on Ms. Greenbank’s
Allegations of Theft

Ms. Greenbank next accuses Great American of theft pursuant to the CVRA,
which imposes liability against individuals who knowingly or intentionally exert
unauthorized control over another’s propewith theintent to deprive the other person
of any part of its value or use. Ind. Co8e35-43-42. Much like statutory conversion, an
essential element of theft is one’s “knowing or intentional unauthorized control.” Because
no evidence exists that would support a findimagthis elemenhas been satisfied
summary judgment igranted for Great American on this claim.

3. Great American is Not Entitled to Summary Judgment on Ms. Greenbank’s Claims
of Fraud & Criminal Mischief

Ms. Greenbank has also brought claims for common law, statutory, and
constructive frad as well as criminal mischielMs. Greenbank’s claims for fraud are
based on Great American’s alleged false representations to Ms. Greenbank with respect
to her policy rights, which were relied upon to her detrim&gefpm. Compl. 1113-
122]. Her claim of criminal mischief is based on her belief that Great American
unlawfully “damaged” Thomasld. § 108112].

Great American requests summary judgment in its favor for each of these claims;
however, Great American offen® explanatin as to why summary judgment is
warranted. The gravamen of Great American’s arguments with respeeséal#ims is
that, because it did not act with the requisins redo commit conversion or theft, it
could not have acted with the requisiteentto commit fraud or criminal mischief.

However, thenens reaelement of theft and conversion relates to the defendant’s
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knowledge or intent when maintaining the alleged “unauthorized control” of another’s
property,which is not an element of fraud of crimal mischief Indeed, Great American
nevereven addresses the elements of the various alleged frauds nor criminal mischief,
and italso fails tooffer anyanalysis as to how this finding in the context of conversion
and thefts comports to an analysidraud and criminal mischief. Additionally, whether
one acts with the necessamgns reas inherently a factual question, yet Great American,
by failing tocompletelyaddress the law or apply it to the facts, has not produces! in
the firm conviction as tthe right result. Its incorporation of itigwedMotion for
Judgment on the Pleadings briefing certainlgsioot save it.

We will not grant summary judgment in Great Americafagor on these claims
when it has preseadlno cogent analysis as to why such a ruling is warranted

4. Great American is Not Entitled to Summary Judgment on Ms. Greenbank’s
Negligence Claim

We turn now to Ms. Greenbank’s final claim against Great American: common
law negligence?’ To establish a claim of negligence, a party must show: (1) a duty owed
to the plaintiff by the defendant; (2) a breach of that duty by the defendant; and (3) an
injury to the plaintiff proximately caused by that breggaverance v. New Castle Cmty.

Sch. Corp, 75 N.E.3d 541, 546 (Ind. Ct. App. 2017).

27 We note thaMs. Greenbank concludes her briefing by presenting a confusing argument that
she is “entitled to judgment” aseveral of Great American’s affirmative defenses disclosed in its
Statement of Defenses, which it was required to produced pursuant to the pasies’ Ca
Management Plan. She also asserts that Great American’s “fraud/misrepreaseiefainse”

fails as a matter of law. Beyond our discussion of Great American’s affierdgienses as they
relate to the specific issues raised in the parties’ summary jud@meifitig and this Ordeiit is
completely unclear why the Court would at this point in the proceedmggze the viability of
these defenses, let alone grant her judgment on said defenses
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Ms. Greenbank alleges that Great American owed her a duty “to use reasonable
care to protect [her] investment in Thomas while in [Great American’s] possession, to act
in [her] best interest and to not take action contrary to [her] interests so as to damage
[her] property.” [Am. Compl. § 128]. She claims that Great American breached this duty,
causing her damages. Great American presents two argument in support of its request for
summary judgment on this claim. First, tkfae negligence clainis barred bythe
“Economic Loss Doctrine,” and second, that Ms. Greenbank has not suffered damages.
Great American does not address the “duty” or “breach” elenoéiMis. Greenbank’s
negligence claim.

The Economic Loss Doctrine provides that “a defendant is not liable under a tort
theory for any purely economic loss caused by its negligémd@napolisMarion Cty.

Pub. Library v. Charlier Clark & Linard, P.C 929 N.E.2d 722, 729 (Ind. 2010).

Pursuanto this doctrine, Indiana courts, including this one, have barred negligence
actions that sound exclusively in contract |&&e First Internet Bank of Indiana v.
Lawyers Title Ins. Cp2009 WL 2092782, at *8 (S.D. Ind. July 13, 2009). According to
GreatAmerican, any claims for losses with respect to Thomas’s value could be resolved
by virtue of the Policy provisions, and thus the Economic Loss Doctrine forecloses Ms.
Greenbank’s negligence claims.

Ms. Greenbank responds that the Economic Loss Docatrandd not bar any
claims for damages that she may hageirredwhile Thomas was in Great American’s
care following the termination of the Policy. She also asserts the she is permitted to plead

her state law claim in the alternative to her contract claim.
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Great American offers a rebuttal only to Ms. Greenbank’s second argument; it
does not explain how the Economic Loss doctrine would bar Ms. Greenbank’s negligence
claim to the extent it relates to any damages incurred followinggthenation of the
Policy. We concur with Ms. Greenbank thatyasramagesvhich occurred post
terminationwould be outside the purview of the parties’ contract.

Great American also asserts that Ms. Greenbank has not suffered any damages.
The Court finds it prudent to refrain from offering any opinion as to whether Ms.
Greenbank may have suféetany compensabl@juriesresulting from Great American’s
negligence on the grounds that the parties’ briefings on this issue are wholly
underdeveloped, leaving the Court with more questions than answers.

For example, Great American first asserts that Ms. Greenbank has not suffered
any damages because Thomas is alive. Ms. Greenbank responds that Great American
ignores any damagesto Thomas’s value that may have resultesfGreat Anerican’s
continuing care of Thomas following the termination of the Policy. Great American
replies thatiny loss would have been the result of the tenectomy, which occurred during
the Policy period. Great American does not address Ms. Greenbank’s claim tha
Thomas'’s value may have lessened because of action taken |ater aloes it, for
example, argue that Thomas’s value has not decreased since it came into Great
American’s possession and thus Ms. Greenbank has suffered no compensable damages.
Though Great American may harbor a legitimate level of skepticism as to any such
damages, it hasot provided anyhoughtful, reasoned analysisthis issue, and thus the

Courtcannot gransummary judgmentn this basis
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CONCLUSION

Great American’s Motion for Summary JudgmgDkt. 51]is granted in part

and denied in part. Ms. Greenbank’s Crogdglotion for Partial Summary Judgmeliikt.

79] isdenied.

Great American’s Motion for Summary Judgmengranted with respect to Ms.
Greenbank’s claim for breach of contract (Count I) on the basis that Great
Americanimproperly denied Ms. Greenbank’s claim for mortality coveride
Greenbank’s Crosklotion on this same issuedgnied.Ms. Greenbank’s
remaining breach of contract claims in Count | that were not addressed by this
Orderrelate toGreat American’s denial of medical expenses, Great American’s
approval of the tenectomgndGreat Amerians denial ofthe Guaranteed Policy
Renewal.

Great American’s Motion for Summary Judgmengranted with respect to Ms.
Greenbank’s bad faith claim (Count II) as it specifically relates to the denial of
mortality coverage.

Great American’s Motion for Summary Judgmengranted for Count Il (theft).
Great American’s Motion for Summary Judgmengnanted for Count IV
(Statutory Conversiorgnd Count VIl (Tortious Conversioty the extent thee
claimsrelate to Great American’s unauthorized control of Thomas following the
termination of the Policy. Great American’s Motion for Summary Judgment on
Counts IV and VIl igdeniedwith respecto the alleged conversion of Ms.

Greenbank’s funds.
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e Great American’s Motion for Summary Judgmendesniedwith respect to
Counts V (Criminal Mischief), Count VI (Fraud), and Count VIII (Negligence).
Ms. Greenbank’s Motion for Reconsideration [Dkt. 64denied.Her Objection
to the Magistrate Judge’s January 2, 2020 Ofid&t. 86] is overruled.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Date: __3/31/2020 Pl BB

SARAH EVANS BARKER, JUDGE
United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana
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